FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/7/2021 11:50 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100131-2 Court of Appeals No. 80400-6-I (consolidated with No. 81332-3-I)

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

# EMILIO M. KOSROVANI and LAUREL HANSEN,

Petitioners

V.

#### ROGER JOBS MOTORS, INC.,

Respondent

## AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Emilio M. Kosrovani WSBA #33762 P.O. Box 3102 Bellingham, WA 98227 (360)647-4433 Petitioner, and Attorney for Co-Petitioner Laurel Hansen

####

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Emilio Kosrovani ("Kosrovani") and Laurel Hansen ("Hansen") seek review of the decisions of the Court of Appeals designated below.

# II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION AND RELATED ORDERS

The Court of Appeals declined review of two summary judgment orders entered by the superior court dismissing Kosrovani's personal injury case and Hansen's claims for loss of consortium, and affirmed that court's later ruling, entered while the appeal of those orders were pending, enforcing a purported settlement agreement wherein Hansen was not involved. The Court made its decisions after allowing the consolidation of a separate appeal of the settlement enforcement order jointly brought by Kosrovani and Hansen. It did so after denying, by order dated September 28, 2020, Kosrovani's motion to modify that Court's Commissioner's ruling denying the joinder of Hansen in the consolidated appeal. The appellate Court issued an Unpublished Opinion, Kosrovani v. Roger Jobs Motors, Inc, noted at 2021 WL WL2808996 (Div. 1, July 6, 2021). The Court denied Kosrovani's motion for reconsideration and motion to publish on July 29, 2021. Copies of the Court's decision and related orders are reproduced in the Appendix beginning at A-1.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In circumstances where Petitioners were denied their constitutional right to a fair and impartial tribunal, and where Kosrovani was denied his constitutional right of access to the court, did the Court of Appeals err in refusing review of two summary judgment dismissals on the ground of mootness and enforcing a disputed settlement agreement entered into in consideration of, and incident to, those dismissals?
- 2. Where an unmarried couple has been in a committed intimate relationship for over 29 years and where the relationship satisfies the factors of *Connell v. Francisco*, is a person in the relationship a foreseeable plaintiff to whom a duty of harm avoidance is owed and may she claim, *in equity*, compensation for services rendered, loss of income, and loss of consortium in a tort action for personal injuries brought by her cohabitant against the tortfeasor?
- 3. Is the court precluded from enforcing a disputed settlement agreement in derogation of the parties' right and freedom to contract, where (i) by its plain terms the settlement is *conditional* upon the execution of a to-be-drafted release, (ii) the terms of the release are not mutually assented to, and (iii) extrinsic evidence is allowed to be introduced showing an intent to form a tentative agreement in order to preserve the rights of first party insurers and to tender the lawsuit?

#### **Ancillary Issues:**

- (a). Does a court lack jurisdiction and is it precluded from enforcing a disputed settlement agreement (a) in the absence of an indispensible party, resulting in that person's claims being extinguished, and (b) without the prior permission of the appellate court being sought under RAP 7.2(e) while the underlying action was being appealed?
- (b). Is the appellate court precluded from holding that a party "settled directly with the other party" and enforcing a mediated settlement agreement under CR 2A in circumstances where (i) the agreement is not subscribed by a represented party's attorney who negotiated the agreement, (ii) the party had no role in reducing the agreement to writing, and (iii) no direct contact between the parties and between the parties and their adverse attorneys took place?

#### IV. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Judicial bias and lack of impartiality pervade this State's trial courts and the Court of Appeals. The bias is deeply embedded and systemic in nature. Its impact is most severely felt by persons of the lower socioeconomic classes, and racial, ethnic, gender and sexual minorities. Due to economic and social constraints, these persons often have no choice but to appear *pro se*, in the process being subjected to an equally severe and deep-seated bias of the courts against *pro se* litigants. Irrespective of the merits of the case, for a *pro se* minority plaintiff the compounded effect of these two sources of bias reduces the odds of prevailing to a range of very low to nonexistent.

Invariably, such a plaintiff is treated in a patronizing manner with disdain, denigration, his or her testimony is disbelieved, submitted briefs are not read or disregarded, arguments are rejected without good reason, and presented evidence ignored. The prime objective of the court then becomes the clearing of the docket and the appearement of the defense. Despite having a meritorious case, such a plaintiff's case is often dismissed at the earliest juncture.

This dual bias and prejudice corrupt the judicial system and corrode its fabric. The result is that the system becomes definitively rigged in favor of the defense and judges become agents of industry and powerful

interests. The courts become bodies that perpetrate oppression, social injustice, and the exertion of undue authority in a setting where doing justice and providing just compensation and relief is their duty.

Judicial bias flourishes with impunity where little or none is done to inhibit it and where recourse against it by a litigant is practically nonexistent. Proof of actual or potential bias is next to impossible as motions for recusal are most often ruled upon by the very judges whose bias and impartiality is being questioned.

The intermediate appellate courts rarely address the issue of judicial bias, as they are themselves the subject of such bias, disguising it under the rubrics of a deferential attitude toward the trial court or its power to make discretionary rulings. In so doing, they strive to shield the lower court judges from embarrassment and reward the improprieties committed by these judges. They, in effect, enable the entrenchment and perpetuation of an unjust system.

Emilio M. Kosrovani, Ph.D., is a 69-year old analytic philosopher who suffered a traumatic brain injury on the premises of Roger Jobs Motors, Inc. (hereinafter, "Roger Jobs") in Bellingham on November 16, 2015. On November 9, 2018 he filed suit against Roger Jobs alleging premises liability and negligence. (CP 3-7) Relying on RCW 4.08.030, he also brought claims in the same suit on behalf of his cohabitant of 29 (now

32) years, Laurel Hansen, for compensation for services rendered, loss of income, and loss of consortium. (CP 7-9)

Kosrovani is a person of color and of an ethnic minority.

Roger Jobs was served on January 14, 2019. About two weeks after being served and before the close of pleadings, Roger Jobs brought a motion denominated as a motion for summary judgment alleging that Kosrovani has failed to state facts sufficient to support his cause of action for negligence. (CP 11-22) It also requested that Hansen be denied relief for loss of consortium because she and Kosrovani are not married to one another and are not state-registered domestic partners. (CP 16-19)

On March 1, 2019, before Kosrovani's discovery had commenced, the trial court heard his motion for continuance, (CP 48-50), granting a one-week continuance. (CP 72-73) The ruling effectively prevented Kosrovani from conducting any discovery ordinarily needed in a premises liability action, which include deposing the business's personnel, having a premises liability expert inspect its premises and maintenance records, and allowing medical experts to review the report and findings of that expert.

The ruling evinced prejudice, bias, and the intent to cripple Kosrovani's efforts to withstand Roger Jobs' summary judgment motion. The judge made derisive comments, later sanitized and excised from the record by her court reporter, about Kosrovani's Complaint. Though

Kosrovani expressed clear intent to cure the alleged factual deficiency of his Complaint, the trial court judge had already prejudged the case and came to believe that it is meritless. So univocal was she on the side of the defense that when Kosrovani remarked that Roger Jobs could have brought a CR 12(e) motion for a more definite statement, the court stated, "We're not required to do it the way that you would." (RP 5-6) (Emphasis supplied.) The trial court inserted itself into the adversarial process, identifying itself in unison with the defense. The judge denied, in violation of CJC 2.6(a), Hansen, a person with claims and a legal interest in the proceeding, of an opportunity to speak. (RP 8, 9, 19)

Kosrovani responded in opposition to the motion as to Hansen's claims arguing that he and Hansen have had a committed intimate relationship for 29 years and that Hansen is entitled to equitable relief. (CP 74-85; 369-71) On March 8, 2019, the trial court granted Roger Jobs' motion on her loss of consortium claim. (CP 145-47; RP 28-29) The court permitted Kosrovani, as attorney, to argue the matter on behalf of Hansen.

Judge Montoya-Lewis' dismissal of Hansen's claim was based on her ruling that there is a "statutory definition of who has the cause of action." (RP 26) The issue she ruled upon was not just the procedural issue of how the claim was brought, but the substantive issue of whether Hansen is entitled to relief for loss of consortium. Without identifying the statute, the court ruled that her claim "is a claim based on a statute that Ms. Hansen does not fit." (RP 23). It ruled on the substantive nature of the cause, stating, "the loss of consortium claim itself is not equitable [but] ... something that the statute itself says, 'this is how this works'." (RP 24). The court failed to identify the nonexistent statute, relying solely on the defense's contention that there is one. (RP 23-24) The court dismissed the claim by summary judgment. (CP 145-47)

Observing Judge Montoya-Lewis's overt bias and partiality toward the defense, Kosrovani made the plainly obvious inference that her intent is to dismiss the entire case from the start, to railroad Kosrovani, and to clear the docket for the incoming assigned judge, Lee Grochmal, within the three-week interim period that she had control of the case. Expecting with certainty the denial of his filed motion for leave to amend (CP 86-89), on March 14, 2019 Kosrovani entered into a stipulated Amended Complaint to cure the alleged factual deficiency. (CP 192-201) On March 7, and 14, 2019, he also initiated discovery by serving Roger Jobs with Interrogatories, Requests for Production, and Request for Inspection of its premises. (CP 216-17 and 285-322)

Given his expectation of certain dismissal of his own claim due to Judge Montoya-Lewis's bias and pro-defense partiality, he presented the court with a written motion for recusal, supported by a declaration, at the commencement of the hearing of March 15, 2019. (CP 205-08; RP 31). Judge Montoya-Lewis herself ruled on the recusal motion, in contravention of CJC Rules 2.7 and 2.11, and denied it, finding no actual bias. (RP 31; CP 209-210)

The court then made multiple rulings (enumerated in the appellate record), all favoring the defense, further evincing its partiality. It struck the core of his medical expert's declaration as "conclusory" without taking into account the lack of discovery (RP 47-49; CP 220-222), refused tender of his expert's curriculum vitae presented as proof of competence without considering the Burnet factors (RP 47), denied his motion to exclude evidence of prior injuries litigated in a malpractice suit introduced by Roger Jobs only in its reply brief (RP 44-46), found, without a scintilla of evidence and without even bothering to look at the earlier malpractice suit complaint ("I don't think I even have to look at it") that his injuries at issue in that suit are "the same injuries" as those pleaded in the subject premises liability complaint, and granted Roger Jobs' motion as to all premises liability claims. (CP 211-212). Judge Montoya-Lewis added at the end, "I did review the Amended Complaint ... I don't think it cures the issues that have been raised by this motion ...." (RP 54)

The court denied reconsideration (CP 353-54), finding Kosrovani

did not have good reason for delay in obtaining evidence or had not indicated what facts would be established by discovery. (CP 354)

A timely appeal of the summary judgment decisions was filed. While the perfection of the appeal was pending, Judge Montoya-Lewis was appointed to the State Supreme Court in late, 2019.

In view of the expected strong sentiment of the Court of Appeals to protect the honor and reputation of Judge Montoya-Lewis and to avoid offence to the higher judiciary, and cognizant of the pre-existing severe prejudice of that Court against *pro se* plaintiff-appellants, Kosrovani reasoned that, despite the merits of his case, the appointment of Judge Montoya-Lewis renders it realistically impossible to prevail in his appeal. In particular, where argument and evidence of her bias and lack of impartiality would be made in the opening brief, the chances of reversal of the summary judgments would be nil.

Having been denied access to the courts by the failure of the superior court to provide a fair and impartial tribunal and to provide access to the court by enabling discovery, and in view of the circumstances having no realistic recourse in the appeals courts for obtaining a reversal, Kosrovani elected to hire an attorney, enter into a tentative settlement with Roger Jobs, then submit first party insurance claims under his and Hansen's auto and umbrella policies. Kosrovani reasoned that if coverage

is granted, he can then tender the lawsuit to the insurers, and if tender is accepted, allow the insurers to proceed. If tender is denied he would conclude the settlement and proceed with arbitration with the insurer as to his damages above the settlement amount. (CP 417; 424)

A mediation was held in which Kosrovani was represented by Chalmers Johnson, G.S. Jones, P.S. Hansen did not participate. A "Memorandum" of settlement was signed by Kosrovani, but not his attorney, stating that "the settlement is conditioned upon execution of a full release of all claims by Claimants/Plaintiffs against Defendants and Defendants' Insurers...." (CP 595) The amount of the settlement is insignificant in relation to the injury sustained. A draft release (CP 598-99) was later mailed to Kosrovani, who did not accept it.

While Kosrovani's claim submissions to his insurers were still being processed, and before any negotiation as to the language of the release, Roger Jobs prematurely brought a motion in trial court seeking to enforce the settlement. Kosrovani opposed the motion on numerous grounds. He cross-moved for leave to amend his complaint to plead rescission of the contract and for joinder of Hansen as a co-plaintiff.

The trial court failed to hold a full evidentiary hearing, denied Hansen from providing testimony (RP 4), and on February 28, 2020

entered an order enforcing the settlement. (CP 491-96) It struck the cross-motion for leave to amend. (CP 487-90)

Kosrovani and Hansen then jointly appealed the order enforcing the settlement enforcement. (CP 557-76)

The Court of Appeals allowed the consolidation of the two appeals, but denied Kosrovani's motion for joinder of Hansen. It also denied his motion to modify the latter ruling. See Appendix, at A-14-17...

In refusing review of the summary judgment orders based on mootness, the Court of Appeals ignored its own commissioner's ruling denying Roger Jobs' motion on mootness, and the failure of Roger Jobs to move to modify that ruling under RAP 17.7. It further ignored the argument that the refusal to review the summary judgment dismissal of Hansen's claims effectively extinguishes her claims and, based on res judicata and claim preclusion, bars her from litigating them in trial court.

The Court of Appeals decision acknowledged that the trial court lacked authority to enter its enforcement order, but it retroactively granted the trial court permission under RAP 7.2(e)(1) to do so.

The Court further held that the settlement was not conditional on the execution of a release, and that, though the release had not been negotiated and its terms had not been agreed to, Kosrovani had an unconditional duty to execute a modified version of it.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED.

- A. This Court Should Accept Review Based on RAP 13.4(b)(4), as the Issues of Bias, Lack of Impartiality, and Lack of Fairness of the Trial Court Judge, Now a Sitting Member of This Court, and of the Court of Appeals, Are Matters of Substantial Public Interest and Import, and the Issue of Whether Violations of Due Process Arising from Bias and Denial of Access to the Court Render a Subsequent Settlement Voidable and Its Enforcement Void Is a Matter of First Impression for this Court.
  - 1. The Voidness of the Summary Judgments Against Petitioners Renders the Subsequent Settlement Voidable and the Order Enforcing Settlement Void; It Moots the Review of the Order.

The issue of whether the violation of Due Process and denial of access to the court renders voidable a subsequent settlement entered to incident to or in consideration thereof is one of first impression for this Court. It is an established principle in equity that where a detriment or prejudice is suffered incident to a judgment later declared void, courts issue orders that negate that prejudice, *e.g.*, by awarding restitution. *In re Marriage of Hardt*, 39 Wn.App. 493, 496, 693 P.2d 1386 (1985)(affirming vacation of divorce decree and awarding reimbursement to husband for child support payments made pursuant to the void decree). See Restatement (Second) of Judgments 2d. (1982), sec.16, cmt *c*.

2. Violations of Due Process and the Appearance of Fairness Render the Summary Judgments Void.

A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process. In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136, 75 S. Ct. 623, 625, 99 L. Ed. 942 (1955). The right to a fair tribunal is embodied in the right to due process. The "administration of justice is dependent upon the impartiality, disinterestedness and fairness on the part of the judge." *State ex rel. McFerran v. Justice Court of Evangeline Starr*, 32 Wn.2d 544, 548, 202 P.2d 927 (1949). The constitutional right to a fair trial is so fundamental to our justice system that denial of this right is considered a structural error that requires reversal. *Williams v. Pennsylvania*, 136 S. Ct. 1899, 1909-10, 195 L. Ed. 2d 132 (2016).

A hallmark of violation of the due process right to a fair tribunal is when the judge prejudges the matter from the outset, making up his or her mind as to the matter before taking any evidence or hearing any argument. *In re Dependency of B.K*, Court of Appeals No. 76675-9-I, *affirmed*, at 449 P.3d 1054 (2019).

A judicial proceeding is valid only if it has an *appearance* of impartiality, such that a reasonably prudent and disinterested person would conclude that all parties obtained a fair, impartial, and neutral hearing. *State v. Bilal*, 77 Wn. App. 720, 722, 893 P.2d 674 (1995); *State v. Solis-Diaz*, 187 Wn.2d 535, 540, 387 P.3d 703 (2017).

The record shows actual and potential bias manifested by Judge Montoya-Lewis. The Court of Appeals, too, was swayed by Judge Montoya-Lewis' position as a member of this Court and, in contravention

to CJC 2.4, has acted with the motive to shield her from any finding of impropriety. These circumstances cast dark cloud upon the impartiality of those courts and are inconsistent with the appearance of fairness doctrine.

3. The Trial Court's Denial of an Opportunity to Conduct Discovery in Violation of Kosrovani's Constitutional Right of Access to the Courts Guaranteed by Article 1, Section 10, of the Washington State Constitution Renders the Summary Judgment Dismissing his Personal Injury Claim Void.

This Court has held, "[t]he people have a right of access to courts, indeed, it is the bedrock foundation upon which rest all the people's rights and obligations." Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Medical Center, 166 Wn.2d 974, 985-86, 216 P.3d 374 (2009). "The right of access to courts includes the right to discovery authorized by the civil rules." Id. "[I]t is common knowledge that extensive discovery in necessary to effectively pursue ... a plaintiff's claim ..." Id. The "broad right of discovery is necessary to ensure access to the party seeking the discovery. The right of access ... is a general principle, implicated whenever a party seeks discovery. Plaintiff, as the party seeking discovery, therefore has a significant interest in receiving it." Id. The constitutional right of access to the courts is inherent in article 1, section 10 of the Washington State constitution. "Requiring plaintiffs to submit evidence supporting their claims prior to the discovery process violates the plaintiffs' right of access to the courts." Putman, at 978 (emphasis added).

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