FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/7/2021 8:19 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100131-2 Court of Appeals No. 80400-6-I (consolidated with No. 81332-3-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EMILIO M. KOSROVANI,

Appellant,

v.

ROGER JOBS MOTORS, INC.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT ROGER JOBS MOTORS, INC.'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Elizabeth M. Berman Lovell, WSBA No. 46428 WILSON SMITH COCHRAN DICKERSON 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98164 Phone: (206)623-4100 Of Attorneys for Respondent Roger Jobs Motors, Inc.

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

"The trial court is presumed... to perform its functions

³ Kosrovani argues a judge cannot rule upon a motion for their recusal - the opposite is true. CJC 2.11 requires the assigned judge to rule upon a recusal motion. "Recusal lies within the discretion of the trial judge, and his or her decision will not be disturbed without a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion." *State v. Perala*, 132 Wn. App. 98, 111, 130 P.3d 852, 858 (2006) (internal citation omitted).

⁴ RJM notes the issue of the court's recusal and alleged bias are moot in light of the Decision enforcing the settlement agreement.

regularly and properly without bias or prejudice." State v. Perala, 132 Wn. App. 98, 111, 130 P.3d 852, 858 (2006) (internal citation omitted). "[T]he claimant must provide some evidence of the judge's actual or potential bias. Id. at 113 (citing State v. Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 619, 826 P.2d 172, 837 P.2d 599 (1992)). Allegations of bias must be specifically supported by references to the record. RAP 10.3(a)(5); Sherry v. Fin. Indem. Co., 160 Wn. 2d 611, 615, 160 P.3d 31, 33 (2007). Factual assertions not supported with references to the record do not warrant consideration and should be wholly disregarded. Brummett v. Wash.'s Lottery, 171 Wn. App. 664, 681, 288 P.3d 48 (2012); Hirata v. Evergreen State Ltd. P 'ship No. 5, 124 Wn. App. 631, 637 n.4, 103 P.3d 812 (2004).

Kosrovani alleges the trial court and Court of Appeals collectively acted in a biased manner against him. *See* Petition at 9. Kosrovani fails to present a single fact concerning the basis for either courts' alleged bias, other than arguing they ruled against him and, therefore, must have been biased.⁵

Lacking actual factual support for his bias argument, Kosrovani argues (again for the first time) the trial court reporter collusively altered the transcript to remove evidence of the court's bias. Kosrovani alleges the court showed bias when the judge "made derisive comments" about him which the court reporter "sanitized and excised from the record...." Petition at 5. But this allegation has no merit, nor evidentiary support even from Kosrovani himself. He identifies neither the content of the allegedly derisive statements, nor from where in the record the statements were allegedly excised. The court reporter signed a sworn certification attesting to the truthfulness and accuracy of the transcript of the hearings. VRP 76.

⁵ Kosrovani presented no facts concerning how his alleged ethnicity affected any judge's rulings in this matter or that any judge was even aware he was allegedly a person of color and an ethnic minority. He raised the issue of racial bias for the first time in his Petition.

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the foregoing court proceedings were transcribed under my direction as a certified transcriptionist; and that the transcript is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge and ability, including any changes made by the trial judge reviewing the transcript:

the transcript; ...

Debra Kallgren

Debra Kallgren, CETD

Kosrovani's arguments concerning judicial bias and denial of access to the courts are without merit.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE IT PREVIOUSLY HELD TECHNICAL VIOLATIONS OF COURT RULES MAY BE OVERLOOKED TO FACILITATE DECISIONS ON THE MERITS AND THE TRIAL COURT HAD SUBJECT-MATTER JURISDICTION.

Merely technical rules violations which do not inhibit the court's ability to decide a controversy on the merits should be overlooked by the court. *State v. Olson*, 126 Wn.2d 315 (1995) (deciding where rules violation is technical and does not prejudice opposing party, violation may be overlooked). A court that has subject matter jurisdiction over a specific type of matter has jurisdiction over a specific matter of that type even if

it lacks authority to enter a given order:

A judgment may properly be rendered against a party only if the court has authority to adjudicate the *type of controversy* involved in the action." (Italics ours.) We italicize the phrase "type of controversy" to emphasize its importance. A court or agency does not lack subject matter jurisdiction solely because it may lack authority to enter a given order."

Sheats v. City of E. Wenatchee, 6 Wn. App. 2d 523, 534, 431 P.3d 489, 494 (2018) (quoting Marley v. Department of Labor & Industries, 125 Wn.2d 533, 539, 886 P.2d 189 (1994) (italic in original, bold emphasis added)).

Kosrovani argues the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to enforce the settlement agreement, but he cannot dispute the trial court ordinarily would have had jurisdiction and authority to consider that type of motion. The trial court had inherent subject matter jurisdiction. The appellate court properly exercised its discretion when it retroactively granted permission for the trial court to enter an order on RJM's motion to enforce the settlement agreement under RAP 7.2(e). The trial court had subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate motions like RJM's motion to enforce the settlement agreement. See City of Seattle v. Holifield, 150 Wn. App. 213, 224-25, 208 P.3d 24 (2009), rev'd on other grounds, 170 Wn.2d 230, 240 P.3d 1162 (2010) (deciding Court of Appeals may waive or alter rules to serve ends of justice and retroactively waiving requirement for party to obtain permission under RAP 7.2(e) before trial court modified judgment or motion after appellate court accepted review). The court had subject-matter jurisdiction whether RJM brought the motion under a new cause number or under the existing cause number. RAP 1.2 grants the court broad authority to alter or waive the rules in order to serve the ends of justice. And in its decision, it explained it was exercising its discretion because the court could fully resolve the dispute on the merits:

> RAP 1.2 vests this court with discretion to overlook procedural imperfections. See RAP 1.2(a) ("[t]hese rules will be liberally interpreted to

promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits"). Had RJM sought permission to file the order, we would have granted it. And the parties have fully briefed the merits of their arguments regarding enforceability of the settlement agreement. We therefore exercise our discretion to retroactively grant permission for the trial court to formally enter the enforcement order and reach the merits of the issue.

Unpublished Opinion, July 6, 2021 at 5-6.

Moreover, even if the Court of Appeals erred in retroactively granting permission for the trial court to consider RJM's motion to enforce the settlement agreement or for the court to consider the motion, the error was harmless because the Court of Appeals would have instead granted permission for the trial court to (again) rule upon RJM's motion. Kosrovani seeks to invalidate the trial court's order on procedural technicalities which have no bearing on the merits of the parties' arguments and for which he has not shown any resulting prejudice. Given RAP 1.2's authority to overlook procedural imperfections to promote justice and decisions on the merits, Kosrovani cites to no authority to support his argument the Court of Appeals erred or that its error affects a "broad and substantial public interest" rather than solely his own interest.⁶

C. THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE DECISION ENFORCING THE CR 2A AGREEMENT DOES NOT MEET THE CRITERIA FOR REVIEW.

"Contract provisions between private parties are legitimate if the parties contract within the bounds of the law." *Ashburn v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 42 Wn. App. 692, 697, 713 P.2d 742, 745 (1986) (citing *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Wiscomb*, 97 Wn.2d 203, 210, 643 P.2d 441 (1982); *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. v. Willrich*, 13 Wn.2d 263, 272, 124 P.2d 950, 142 A.L.R. 1 (1942)). Kosrovani fails to cite legal authority demonstrating the Decision conflicts with another appellate decision. Moreover, interpretation of a contract between private parties is not a matter of substantial public importance. *See generally Id*.

15

⁶ This court routinely declines to review issues not supported by coherent argument or citation to relevant authority. RAP 10.3(a)(6); *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

Under CR 2A, courts enforce written agreements when signed by parties (or their attorneys) and the "purport" of the agreement cannot be undisputed. Courts find the "purport" of an agreement disputed only when its existence or material terms are **genuinely disputed**. *In re Ferree*, 71 Wn. App. 35, 40, 856 P.2d 706 (1993). The court must decide not whether parties dispute the agreement in the sense that a party does not wish to abide by it, but whether the party can controvert its existence or material terms so as to raise a genuine issue of fact. *Id.* at 45. Kosrovani admits he signed the agreement which contained the settlement terms. Petition at 10.

The Court of Appeals held Kosrovani agreed to settlement and was bound by the CR 2A agreement under ordinary principles of contract law. "Where one construction would make a contract unreasonable, and another, equally consistent with its language, would make it reasonable, the latter more rational construction must prevail.' *Better Fin. Sols.*, *Inc. v. Transtech Elec., Inc.*, 112 Wn. App. 697, 712 n. 40, 51

16

P.3d 108 (2002) (quoting *Byrne v. Ackerlund*, 108 Wn.2d 445,739 P.2d 1138 (1987))." Unpublished Opinion at 9.

1. Settlement under CR 2A was not conditioned upon Kosrovani's attorney signing the CR 2A agreement.

Kosrovani argues the Court of Appeals erred when it interpreted *Patterson*, 93 Wn. App 579, 969 P.2d 1106 (1999) and decided that a party represented by counsel at a mediation can be bound to a settlement agreement signed by the party rather than their attorney-agent. But the court properly decided parties are free to sign settlement agreements even if they are represented by counsel and their own signature is just as binding as that of their attorney-agent.

[In *Patterson*,] [t]his court, noting that "[t]he rule clearly anticipates that parties may directly enter into settlements," held that "[w]hen the party undertakes a settlement directly with the other party, reduces it to writing, and signs it, as in this case, the requirements of CR 2A are met just as if the attorney had participated." 93 Wn. App. at 585. Kosrovani, an attorney, was present with his counsel at the mediation. His signature on the agreement indicates his assent to its terms. The absence of his counsel's signature does not render the agreement unenforceable.

Unpublished Opinion at 8.

Kosrovani argues this court should accept review and should instead embrace an interpretation of CR 2A and *Patterson* which <u>requires</u> attorneys to act on behalf of their clients. But such an interpretation would be erroneous. An attorney is an agent of their client and has <u>no greater authority</u> than his client:

an attorney is only an agent. A party may settle a case with or without an attorney. When the party undertakes a settlement directly with the other party, reduces it to writing, and signs it, as in this case, the requirements of CR 2A are met just as if the attorney had participated. It would be unfair to the other party to hold otherwise.

In re Patterson v. Taylor, 93 Wn. App. 579, 585, 969 P.2d 1106, 1110 (1999). See also Creer Legal v. Monroe Sch. Dist., 4 Wn. App. 2d 776, 784, 423 P.3d 915, 919 (2018) ("An agent derives from her principal only such powers as the principal has.") (quoting Schorman v. McIntyre, 92 Wash. 116, 119, 158 P. 993 (1916)). Kosrovani did not cede authority when he hired an attorney to assist him at mediation. *Id*. Kosrovani retained sole, full authority to settle his claims against RJM. The Court of Appeals did not err when it decided Kosrovani was bound by his own signature to the CR 2A agreement.

2. Settlement under CR 2A was not conditioned upon Kosrovani signing the release.

Kosrovani argues the Court of Appeals erred in deciding his agreement to sign a release was not a material term of the CR 2A agreement. He contends the Decision "flouts [contract construction] rules" requiring strict construction of conditional words in contracts. But the Decision was rooted in law with which Kosrovani simply disagrees.

Washington courts refuse to interpret contract terms in a way which renders a contractual performance obligation optional because such a "promise" is illusory:

An enforceable contract requires consideration. "If the provisions of an agreement leave the promisor's performance entirely within his discretion and control, the 'promise' is illusory. Where there is an absolute right not to perform at all, there is an absence of consideration." Thus, if a promise is illusory, there is no consideration and no enforceable obligation. <u>Washington courts</u> "will not give effect to interpretations that would render contract obligations illusory."

SAK & Assocs. v. Ferguson Constr., Inc., 189 Wn. App. 405, 411-12, 357 P.3d 671, 674-75 (2015) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Here, the Court of Appeals properly decided Kosrovani's interpretation of the settlement agreement was unreasonable because it made his promise to perform illusory. Conversely, RJM's interpretation was reasonable and furthered the parties' stated intention to settle Kosrovani's claims.

> Kosrovani's interpretation would render the mediation process and the CR 2A settlement agreement pointless by giving him free rein to decide at a later date whether or not to actually sign the release he agreed to sign to settle the matter. "Where one construction would make a contract unreasonable, and another, equally consistent with its language, would make it reasonable, the latter more rational construction must prevail." [internal citation omitted]. Kosrovani's execution of the release was the required performance of his promise in the

settlement agreement. His failure to execute the release breached that promise.

Unpublished Opinion at 9. The Court of Appeals did not err and

Kosrovani failed to demonstrate grounds for review.

D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE IT HAS PREVIOUSLY DECLINED TO DECIDE MOOT ISSUES.

When an appeal raises multiple issues, resolution of one issue may render others moot. See *In re Personal Restraint of Stroudmire*, 141 Wn.2d 342, 5 P.3d 1240 (2000). Washington courts usually decline to consider the mooted issues and consider appeals presenting moot issues only in limited circumstances:

A case is considered moot if there is no longer a controversy between the parties, *State ex rel. Chapman v. Superior Court,* 15 Wn.2d 637, 131 P.2d 958 (1942); if the question is merely academic, *Grays Harbor Paper Co. v. Grays Harbor County,* 74 Wn.2d 70, 442 P.2d 967 (1968); or if a substantial question no longer exists. *Sorenson v. Bellingham,* 80 Wn.2d 547, 496 P.2d 512 (1972)." *Pentagram Corp. v. Seattle,* 28 Wn. App. 219, 223, 622 P.2d 892, 894 (1981). The court will review a moot case only when it presents "an issue of continuing and substantial public interest that would likely evade review."

State v. Waller, 197 Wn.2d 218, 224, 481 P.3d 515 (2021).

As the Court of Appeals explained, "[b]ecause [the settlement] agreement requires Kosrovani to withdraw his appeal, his challenge to the summary judgment dismissal of his lawsuit against RJM is moot. We affirm the order enforcing the settlement agreement and dismiss the remaining appeal as moot." Unpublished Opinion at 1-2.

Here, the court's Decision does not conflict with prior decisions of this court and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

Kosrovani avoids discussion of mootness and does not dispute his summary judgment appeal became moot. Instead, he seeks to distract the court with voluminous, and legally insubstantial, arguments about his constitutional right to access to the courts. Kosrovani yokes his argument of "substantial public interest" to judicial bias rather than on the issue of his appeal – whether he entered into a contract with a private party which called for him to dismiss his appeal of the summary

22

judgment orders. His appeal lacks substantial public interest.

Here, once the court decided the settlement agreement was enforceable, the court resolved the controversy between the parties and mooted the summary judgment appeal. Kosrovani's Petition did not cite any facts or authority showing enforcement of the settlement agreement or the summary judgment dismissal of his claims concerned a matter of continuing and substantial public interest that would likely evade review.

E. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE HANSEN'S JOINDER IS NOT A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE OR MATTER OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC IMPORTANCE.

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